**FILED**

August 27, 2018

**STATE OF MINNESOTA**

**OFFICE OF  
APPELLATE COURTS**

**IN SUPREME COURT**

---

**Case No: A17-1068**

---

Ryan Larson,

Appellant,

Gannett Company, Inc., a foreign corporation;  
Gannett Satellite Information Network, Inc.,  
a foreign corporation; Multimedia Holdings  
Corporation, a foreign corporation, d/b/a/  
KARE 11-TV and d/b/a the St. Cloud Times,

Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Stephen C. Fiebiger (#149664)  
Stephen C. Fiebiger Law Office, Chtd.  
2500 West County Road 42, Suite 190  
Burnsville, MN 55337  
(952) 746-5171  
[fielaw@earthlink.net](mailto:fielaw@earthlink.net)

Steven J. Wells (#0163508)

## STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES

1. Does the fair report privilege apply to summaries of statements made by law enforcement in a press conference and press release?

The Court of Appeals concluded the statements were protected by the privilege.

**Apposite Cases:** *Moreno v. Crookston Times Printing Co.*, 610 N.W. 2d 321 (Minn. 2000); *Jadwin v. Minneapolis Star & Tribune*, 390 N.W.2d 437 (Minn. Ct. App. 1986); *Dameron v. Washington Magazine, Inc.*, 779 F.2d 736 (D.C. Cir. 1985)

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing judgment as a matter of law (JMOL) on falsity?

Because it applied the fair report privilege, the Court concluded that omitting the falsity by implication instruction was harmless error.

**Apposite Cases:** *Lewis v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc. of the United States*, 389 N.W. 2d 876 (Minn. 1986); *Price v. Viking Press, Inc.*, 625 F. Supp. 641 (D. Minn. 1985); *Cianci v. New Times Publishing Co.*, 639 F. 2d 54 (2d Cir. 1980).

3. Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing the Order granting a new trial?

The Court of Appeals reversed the new trial for all eight statements because

of the privilege and for the three dismissed statements because of the incremental harm doctrine.

**Apposite Cases:** *Schlieman v. Gannett Minn. Broadcasting Inc.*, 637 N.W. 2d 297 (Minn. App. 2001); *Carradine v. State*, 511 N.W.2d 733 (Minn. 1994)

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Ryan Larson sued KARE 11 and *The St. Cloud Times* for eleven defamatory statements in five publications that said or implied he killed Cold Spring Police Officer Tom Decker. Larson, a student at St. Cloud Technical & Community College, was awakened and arrested by police in his apartment the evening of November 29, 2012, after Officer Decker was shot and killed.

Less than twelve hours later, Drew Evans of the Minnesota Bureau of Criminal Apprehension (BCA) led a press conference in Cold Spring and explained that Larson was arrested and in custody. A Department of Public Safety (DPS) news release was distributed. ADD121. Evans, Stearns County Sheriff John Sanner, and Cold Spring Police Chief Phil Jones made brief statements followed by questions from reporters. ADD112-20. In answering reporters' questions, Evans repeated that the investigation was preliminary, active, and ongoing, and they were continuing to follow up all leads and could not share

details. ADD115. None of the law enforcement officials said Larson shot and killed Decker or that they believed he was responsible. *Id.*

That evening, KARE 11's 6:00 newscast broadcasted defamatory statements by anchor Julie Nelson and in an interview with Decker's mother conducted by reporter John Croman. ADD124,126. At 10:00, KARE 11 published several more defamatory statements, including statements by Nelson, reporter Jana Shortal, and in a kare11.com story. ADD135-37,142. Larson's mugshot, name, and "officer killed," were featured. ADD131.

The December 1, 2012 *St. Cloud Times* published a front page story titled "Man faces murder charge" containing Larson's photo and two defamatory statements. ADD144.

Larson was released from jail with no criminal charges because he was not the killer. After his release, on December 5, 2012 another article was published and included quotes from a former in-law of Decker's implying Larson was the killer. ADD144.

None of the defamatory statements were attributed to the press conference, news release, or jail log, nor were they described as summaries, until this litigation.

In January, 2013, law enforcement identified Eric Thomes as the killer, but he committed suicide as authorities prepared to capture him.

The district court denied summary judgment on the fair report privilege,

concluding the privilege was inapplicable and the statements were not substantially accurate. ADD70,76.

At trial, Larson's requested instruction on falsity by implication in CIVJIG 50.25 was denied. ADD149,150. Three more statements alleging defamation by implication were dismissed. A divided jury found all eight statements were defamatory, but not false. ADD044.

The district court granted judgment as a matter of law (JMOL) on falsity, finding the implication of the statements that Larson killed Officer Decker was false. ADD033,36. A new trial was granted on negligence and damages and for the three dismissed statements. ADD038-041.

The Court of Appeals reversed. It concluded the press conference and news release were official proceedings and the statements were fair summaries and abridgements thereof protected by the fair report privilege. It ruled the statements were substantially accurate based upon the verdict on the falsity question. It reversed JMOL on falsity, concluding the failure to instruct on falsity by implication was harmless error. It reversed the new trial on all eight statements and determined that the three reinstated statements were barred by the incremental harm doctrine.

The media must be held accountable for publishing false and defamatory statements about private individuals.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### **1. Arrest of Ryan Larson.**

Officer Tom Decker was shot and killed behind Winner's Bar the evening of November 29, 2012. ADD.76. Larson was living in an apartment above the bar while attending St. Cloud Technical & Community College. T-711,712,713. Around midnight, he was woken by police in his apartment, handcuffed, and taken to the Stearns County jail. T-716,717. He then learned that Officer Decker had been shot. T-717,718.

### **2. Press Conference of November 30, 2012.**

The morning after his arrest, Drew Evans of the Minnesota Bureau of Criminal Apprehension (BCA) led a press conference and explained that Larson was arrested and in custody. ADD112. A Department of Public Safety (DPS) news release was distributed. ADD121. Evans, Stearns County Sheriff John Sanner, and Cold Spring Police Chief Phil Jones gave short statements which were followed by questions from reporters. T-769,ADD112-20.

The press conference was to provide information to the public and media concerning where law enforcement was at that stage of the investigation. T-771. Larson was identified because he was taken into custody in connection with the incident and information about him was public, having already appeared on the Stearns County website jail roster. T-772,773,796.

Evans emphasized it was an “active and ongoing investigation.” T-770,ADD115. He cautioned this was a “very preliminary” investigation just hours after the incident occurred. T-798. He said that no determination had been made that Larson was responsible for shooting and killing Officer Decker or that enough evidence existed with which to charge him. T-773,774.

When asked if anyone else was involved, Evans responded “again, we don’t have any information to believe that at this time, but it’s in the early stages of the investigation. We continue to follow up on all leads.” ADD115. Evans refused to provide details to the media when pressed for information, saying “That’s part of the active investigation” and “We can’t discuss that at this time.” ADD115-16. Law enforcement repeatedly declined to provide information and details about the investigation and killing. ADD115-120.

### **3. The Trial.**

#### **A. November 30, 2012 6:00 p.m. KARE 11 Reports.**

##### **1. Anchor Julie Nelson.**

Nelson opened the newscast reading the Decker murder story, stating:

**“Police say that man—identified as 34-year old Ryan Larson—ambushed Officer Decker and shot him twice, killing him.”**

T-198, Ex. 1,ADD124. While Nelson read the script, a full screen graphic appeared with Larson’s color mugshot and “Officer killed” and “Suspect” next to

“Ryan Larson.” T-447, 448. The 6:00 newscast was viewed by 95,200 households. T-653,678,679.

Nelson did not attend the press conference or watch it before the newscasts and could not remember if she saw the news release. T-194-95. She had not personally gathered information from law enforcement for her script nor talked to the reporters about their sources of information. T-194-95,200.

Nelson’s 6:00 report was written by producer Panhia Yang. T-195-96, 239, 481,Ex. 1,ADD123-24(6:00 script). Yang did not have the name of a law enforcement official who made the statement. T-472. She did not know how she got the information and had not watched the press conference. T-472. She was unable to say if the news release was used in writing the story, but she did not use the jail log for writing the 6:00 story. T-474,504. She did not have any other source or sources for the statement by Nelson. T-488.

Yang took no steps to verify the source of the statement. T-490-91. She did not confirm the source with Executive Producer Rebecca Rohde-Eckblad who approved the script. T-434,495. Yang was unaware of any evidence connecting Larson to the murder. T-504.

Yang knew that being “booked into jail” meant that he was in custody awaiting charges. R-474. She agreed that the news release did not say that Larson was charged with murder. T-474-75.

Yang read the script for the 5:00 newscast. T-496,Ex. 6(script for 5:00). But the 5:00 newscast included no statements that police or investigators said Larson had shot and killed Officer Decker. T-498. She was unaware of any new information between the 5:00 and 6:00 newscasts. T-498-99.

Rohde-Eckblad watched the press conference and agreed law enforcement did not use “those exact words” reported by Nelson. T-434, 440, Ex. 101. She knew Larson had not been charged with a crime and was unaware of facts showing he was involved in Decker’s murder. T-441,442. She could not remember seeing the news release. T-453. She did not recall any discussions with Yang about the sources of the statements. T-437.

KARE 11’s policy was not to name suspects before being charged with a crime because they may not be the ones who committed the crime. T-211-12. But the policy was not followed for Larson upon approval of news director Jane Helmke. T-212,236.

## **2. John Croman’s 6:00 Report.**

After Nelson’s lead in, the story was sent to reporter John Croman in Cold Spring. Croman interviewed Officer Decker's mother, Rosella Decker, and reported:

**“Rosella holds no ill-will against the man accused of killing her son.”**

The man was Larson. T-262, 263, 268 Ex. 1, ADD126-27. Croman brought up Larson in the recorded interview. T-373. In response to Croman's questions about her son's murder, and Larson, Mrs. Decker said:

**“His mind must have been really messed up. Tom would have forgave him.”**

T-263, 264.

Croman knew Larson had not been charged when he interviewed Mrs. Decker. T-264. He didn't see the jail log until later and did not attend the press conference. T-249,251,257.

Croman agreed that none of the law enforcement officers said Larson shot and killed Officer Decker. T-369. They were being very guarded with details and information so as not to jeopardize the case. T-253. He knew Evans did not say the investigation was over. T-370, 371. He said those who cover the courts knew that charging doesn't happen until the district attorney brings the criminal complaint forward. T-257

### **3. Closing 6:00 Report.**

Towards the end of the story, Nelson reported:

**“Ryan Larson, the man accused of killing Officer Decker, could be charged as early as Monday.”**

Ex.1, ADD123; Ex.108. Yang admitted nobody said this at the press conference or that they had evidence with which to charge him. T-495,496. Yang and Rohde-

Eckblad did not discuss the source of this statement. T-495. Yang wrote the script, but was unaware of new information about the case between the 5:00 and 6:00 newscasts. T-434,494.

**B. November 30, 2012 10:00 p.m. KARE 11 Reports.**

**1. Julie Nelson Opening.**

Nelson read the script for the 10:00 newscast stating:

**“Investigators say 34-year old Ryan Larson ambushed the officer, shooting him twice. Larson is in custody.”**

T-204, Ex. 2,ADD132,Ex. 110. The 10:00 newscast was watched by 125,800 households. T-678,679.

Nelson testified the statement came from the press conference, but she made no attempt to interview anyone in law enforcement about what happened or contact the County Attorney’s Office for information. T-205-06. She did not ask the reporters if they had made additional interview inquiries. T-207. Nelson was unaware of steps to verify the statements that Larson shot and killed Officer Decker. T-207.

Producer Nick Peterson wrote the 10:00 stories read by Nelson approved by executive producer Ian Philbrick. T-240,517, 518,520 Ex. 2,ADD132. Peterson’s practice was to reference the source and follow up with reporters in the field about their sources to verify accuracy. T-515. The story included a full screen graphic of Larson’s mug shot. T-519, Ex. 110.

KARE 11's policy is to attribute statements to particular sources because they do not personally have the information. T-516,517. Peterson, however, did not know if a reporter provided the information and he had no direct source for the text read by Nelson. T-522,523. He did not know whether the statement was true or false and said that's why they attributed it to the investigators. T-523. He said it was not up to KARE 11 to determine whether the statement was true or false. T-523.

## **2. Kare11.com Report.**

Nelson referenced the website story at Kare11.com. T-208. The story, visible in the 10:00 newscast, contained Larson's photo with the caption "Suspect jailed in fatal shooting of Cold Spring officer." T-208,Ex.14,ADD142. The story reported:

**"Investigators believe he fired two shots into Cold Spring Police Officer Tom Decker causing his death."**

T-209,Ex.14,ADD142. The story reported that investigators would not describe the events they believed transpired. Ex.14,ADD142. Neither Nelson nor Philbrick knew who wrote the story. T-209,553. The story made no attribution to the press conference or news release and Respondents presented no evidence of its source.

## **3. Jana Shortal's "Opened Fire" Story.**

Shortal reported on the murder at 10:00. T-304,Ex. 110 (Video). She did not attend the press conference, but watched a tape of it later that day. T-293,297,

Ex. 101. She agreed law enforcement gave limited details about what happened. T-298. She did not interview anyone in law enforcement or remember contacting the County Attorney's Office and saw no criminal charge documents. T-298,299.

Shortal wrote her story that was approved by Peterson and Philbrick. T-305,Ex.2,ADD135-37. The story was a package piece, with parts of it pre-recorded with sound bites and her reporter track. T-306. The story included video with quotes from Mrs. Decker from Croman's interview. T-307. The story quoted a local resident describing Officer Decker being one of the "good guys." T-308-09. Shortal continued:

**"He was the good guy last night going to check on someone who needed help. That someone was 34-year old Ryan Larson who investigators say opened fire on Officer Decker for no reason anyone can fathom."**

T-309, Ex. 2,ADD136. Shortal admitted that no law enforcement official made this statement. T-298,309. She came up with the words "opened fire" and added "for no reason anyone can fathom." T-309,310. She said it wasn't up to her to determine whether the statement that Larson shot and killed Officer Decker was true or false. T-311.

Shortal received no new information about Larson's involvement between 5:00 and 10:00 p.m. T-314, 315. She did not recognize the news release and didn't remember using the jail log for her stories. T-331,334.

Philbrick didn't remember taking steps to verify the accuracy of Shortal's story. T-552. Peterson admitted that no law enforcement official made the statement before the 10 o'clock newscast and that it was not made at the press conference or in the news release. T-527. Peterson did not ask Shortal where she obtained the information in her story. T-527. While he thinks it was his job to verify the accuracy of stories, he could not remember doing so here. T-524.

#### **4. Closing 10:00 Report.**

After Shortal's report the story went back to Julie Nelson. With Larson's full screen color mugshot across the screen and graphics "Ryan Larson" and "Officer Killed," Nelson reported **"Charges could be filed as early as Monday against Ryan Larson ... the man accused of killing officer Decker."** Then, she said:

**"He does not have an extensive criminal history, but was cited with disorderly conduct in 2009. He was a second year machine tool student at St. Cloud Tech. Larson is being held in the Stearns County Jail."**

Ex.2,ADD140. Peterson wrote the script, but without information about Larson being charged or formally accused of murder. T-529, 530.

#### **C. 'Man faces murder charge' Article.**

*The St. Cloud Times* published a front page story on December 1, 2012 under the headline:

**"Man faces murder charge."**

Reporter Kari Stenman wrote the article that included Larson's mug shot and "Ryan Michael Larson" below his image. Ex. 119,ADD144. She knew that Larson had not been formally charged with murder. T-,387,401.

The article reported:

**"Police say Larson is responsible for the shooting death of Cold Spring Richmond Police Officer Tom Decker."**

T-410-11, Ex. 119,ADD144. At trial, Stenman admitted the statement was false. T-401.<sup>1</sup>

Stenman did not attend the press conference, but watched it from the news room. T-384,410. She conducted no interviews with law enforcement about the details surrounding Officer Decker's shooting death. T-385-86. Her story did not attribute the statements to the press conference, news release, or jail log. T-393, 417.

Stenman acknowledged that nobody used the specific words that Larson was responsible for the shooting death of Officer Decker or that Larson shot and killed him. T-387-88,391,417. She had no idea who made the statement. T-393.

Reporters at the newspaper had criteria for verifying facts for stories. T-405. The criteria entailed making sure they had a source on the record or documentation. T-405. It was important to have a source on the record about facts used in a story so that the reporter and reader always knew where the information

was coming from. T-405. The *Times* policy was to never to use anonymous sources. T-405.

Reporter David Unze said that for attributing sources, the paper needs to have someone in a position to know that it's true and accurate so that the readers know they did not make it up. T-563. For breaking news stories, they attribute statements to an individual who has made the statement so that the reader can know who is directly responsible for making the statement in print. *Id.*

Larson called the newspaper from jail to let the community know he did not kill Officer Decker and the real killer remained in the community. T-726,Ex.120. He was released from custody on December 4, 2012, due to lack of evidence connecting him to the crime. *Id.*

#### **D. December 5, 2012 Article.**

*The St. Cloud Times* published a front page story titled "County lets Cold Spring suspect go" by Stenman and Unze. T-397, 398,Ex. 120,ADD146. Stenman knew that prosecutors determined there was no evidence to charge Larson with a crime, but she never interviewed anyone in law enforcement for the story. T-398.

Instead, she interviewed relatives of Officer Decker at Larson's release, including Roxie Knowles, and wrote:

---

<sup>1</sup> The newspaper's distribution is around 20,000. T-560.

**“Knowles said she came to the jail Tuesday because she had one thing she wanted to say to Larson – if she got the chance to see him leave the jail. ‘This isn’t over, she said.’”**

T-399,400,ADD148.

Knowles also discussed concern for the safety of her sister’s children after Larson’s release. Ex. 120,ADD148.

**E. Ryan Larson.**

Larson testified he did not shoot and kill Officer Decker and had nothing to do with his murder. T-718. He was never charged with a crime in connection with the killing. T-718.

After his release from jail, he left town and did not return to Cold Spring because Chief Jones told him not to return for his own safety. T-728,733. He eventually lived with a friend in St. Cloud and then Waite Park. T-729.

Larson was not allowed to return to school. T-756. He missed final exams, failed classes, and placed on academic warning. T-756,760, Ex. 25. He had to pay for classes he failed before returning in 2014 and graduate in 2015. T-757,762,764-65.

He said the statement by Nelson in KARE 11’s 6:00 newscast “Police say that man identified as 34-year old Ryan Larson ambushed Officer Decker and shot him twice, killing him” was false because law enforcement never said that and because he had not shot and killed Officer Decker. T-730,731,732. He described

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