No. A17-1068

FILED

September 26, 2018

**STATE OF MINNESOTA
IN SUPREME COURT**

**OFFICE OF
APPELLATE COURTS**

Ryan Larson,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

vs.

Gannett Company Inc., Gannett Satellite Information Network Inc., Multimedia
Holdings Corporation, d/b/a KARE 11-TV and d/b/a St. Cloud Times,

Respondents/Cross-Appellants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS/CROSS-APPELLANTS

DORSEY & WHITNEY LLP
Steven J. Wells (#0163508)
Timothy J. Droske (#0388687)
Nicholas J. Bullard (#0397400)
50 South Sixth Street, Suite 1500
Minneapolis, MN 55402-1498
Telephone: (612) 340-2600
wells.steve@dorsey.com
droske.tim@dorsey.com
bullard.nick@dorsey.com

STEPHEN C. FIEBIGER LAW OFFICE

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

ii. The two statements Larson claims convey the fact of arrest or charge were substantially accurate

Larson claims the remaining two statements “were not substantially accurate” because the effect each “would produce on the mind of the recipient was that Larson had been formally charged with murder”:

Rosella holds no ill-will against the man accused of killing her son.

Man faces murder charge.

App. Br. at 46.

Larson is wrong. For the first statement, Larson argues that, “[i]n this context, ‘accused’ generally means charged with a crime.” *Id.* But the definition of “accused” is not so narrow.¹² Larson himself made this clear when he testified “to the feelings felt when you’re *accused* of something like that.” Tr.739 (emphasis added). And even if the word “accuse” *can* have that meaning, *see* App.Add.74-75 (now-vacated Order), it does not here, where both broadcasts reporting “Rosella holds no ill-will against the man accused of killing her son,” also made clear charges “*could* be” filed as early as Monday.¹³ *Supra* at 11; *see Lee*, 710 F. App’x at 559.

Nor does the St. Cloud Times headline “Man faces murder charge” produce the impression that Larson had been formally charged. *See* App. Br. at 47. That headline

¹² *See* Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary 50 (9th ed. 1989) (“accuse” means “to charge with a fault or offense”); Oxford Online Dictionary (2018), <https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/accuse> (“accuse” means “[c]laim that (someone) has done something wrong”).

¹³ Below, Larson made this same argument with respect to the statement, “Ryan Larson, the man accused of killing officer Decker, could be charged as early as Monday.” Larson Ct. Appeals Br. at 37. That argument fails for the same reasons.

means he has the *prospect* of being charged. *See Webster's Collegiate Dictionary* 443 (9th ed. 1989) (“face” can mean “to have as a prospect”); *Oxford Online Dictionary* (2018), <https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/face> (same). And the context of the article clarified Larson “faces *possible* charges of second-degree murder.”

Critically, even if the statements produced the impression Larson had already been charged with a crime, that would be immaterial. The Massachusetts Supreme Court addressed these circumstances directly, in a case recognized by *Moreno*, concluding, “[a]lthough the plaintiff was not actually charged, the impact of that statement did not create a substantially greater defamatory sting than an accurate report that the plaintiff had only been booked on suspicion of murder.” *Jones*, 512 N.E.2d at 266. By the same reasoning, any argument as to these statements fails.

iii. Larson’s new attribution arguments are waived, and fail in any event

For the first time, Larson argues attribution is a separate, independent requirement for the fair-report privilege’s applicability. App. Br. at 36-37. This argument is waived. *See Johnson v. Paynesville Farmers Union Coop. Oil Co.*, 817 N.W.2d 693, 707 n.11 (Minn. 2012). At summary judgment, during trial, and before the Court of Appeals, to the extent Larson raised attribution, it related only to substantial accuracy (whether those were the “exact words” of any officer) or negligence (whether Defendants followed their own policies). *See Doc.19* at 44-45, 52-54; Larson Ct. App. Br. at 27, 36, 59.

Regardless, Larson’s argument fails. First, neither *Moreno* nor the Restatement reference, much less require, “attribution” as a separate stand-alone requirement.

Moreno, 610 N.W.2d at 329-33; Restatement §611. Second, Defendants did attribute their reports by saying “police” or “investigators” “say” or “believe,” consistent with their policies. As every journalist witness affirmed, that was attribution. *Supra* at 17. Third, it was apparent law enforcement was the source for information regarding the investigation and Larson as a suspect. The KARE 11 and St. Cloud Times reports, for example, included what was readily identifiable as a mugshot of Larson. And the KARE 11 broadcasts each included a brief clip from the news conference. *Supra* at 10-13.

Larson’s cases from other jurisdictions are inapposite. *Dameron* involved a sidebar in a magazine discussing certain plane crashes, without referencing the NTSB investigation that was the source for the information. *Dameron*, 779 F.2d at 737-38. The court did not impose any requirement of “specific attribution”; it was enough if attribution to protected sources was “apparent” from the article’s “overall context.” *Id.* at 739. Here, the reports identified they were conveying what “police say,” unlike *Dameron*, where the impression was that the conclusions were based on the reporter’s own research. *Id.* at 740. *Bufalino* is likewise inapposite. There, the concern was that the press cannot after-the-fact point to official records it did not actually rely upon. *Bufalino*, 692 F.2d at 270. But here, the news conference, news release, and jail log were viewed and relied upon contemporaneously by reporters. *Supra* at 10 n.6.

Critically, another case Larson cites, *Phillips*, is on point and fatal to Larson’s new attribution claim. App. Br. at 37 (citing *Phillips*, 424 A.2d at 89). There, in a case involving information received from a police “hot line,” the court found the requirement of “proper attribution” met by the article’s references to what “D.C. police said” and was

“according to police.” *Phillips*, 424 A.2d at 82, 89. To the extent attribution is an independent requirement, Defendants properly did so using the same “police say” references.

3. Alternatively, the Court of Appeals properly credited the jury’s finding for purposes of the fair-report privilege

Alternatively, and at a minimum, “a reasonable jury *may* conclude that statements 1-8 were substantially accurate reports of official statements.” App.Add.21 (emphasis added); *see* Tr.1111. Here, that is what the jury found, and it entitles Defendants to judgment, as the Court of Appeals held. App.Add.24-25.

It is of no consequence that the district court erroneously found the fair-report privilege did not apply, and cast its instruction as one on falsity, rather than substantial accuracy under the privilege. *See* App.Add.25. A new trial is required only “[i]f the instruction destroys the substantial correctness of the charge as a whole, causes a miscarriage of justice, or results in substantial prejudice.” *Marlock v. St. Paul Guardian Ins. Co.*, 650 N.W.2d 154, 159 (Minn. 2002). Thus, “[w]here instructions overall fairly and correctly state the applicable law, appellant is not entitled to a new trial.” *Hilligoss v. Cargill, Inc.*, 649 N.W.2d 142, 147 (Minn. 2002). Moreover, “even if an affirmative misstatement of law in an instruction was fundamental error,” there is no entitlement to a new trial if it cannot be “demonstrate[d] in the record that such error had changed the outcome of the case or otherwise prejudiced it.” *Halla*, 454 N.W.2d at 911.

Here, the charge to the jury was substantially correct, and regardless, Larson cannot claim prejudice when the jury instruction on falsity, following the model jury

instruction, was the same standard Larson concedes governs substantial accuracy for the fair-report privilege. *Compare* Doc.127 at 14 *and* App.Add.149, *with* App. Br. at 38 (quoting *Jadwin*, 390 N.W.2d at 441). “Substantial accuracy” is the standard for both, as measured by whether the “gist” or “substance” is the same, considering the words as a whole and in context. *Compare* *Jadwin*, 390 N.W.2d at 441, *with* *McKee*, 825 N.W.2d at 730 (quoting *Masson*, 501 U.S. at 517). Moreover, Larson’s counsel in closing arguments specifically argued the jury should find these statements false because “[n]obody in the police said that.” Tr.1208-10. And the jury considered each purportedly defamatory statement in its entirety—including the “police say” language—against this standard. The jury’s finding that each was substantially accurate controls and is dispositive, compelling judgment for Defendants.

Larson’s arguments to the contrary fail. Larson’s primary argument is that the jury was not “instructed with the *Jadwin* definition,” because only the “gist” or “substance” standard was given, not the alternative formulation of whether “it produces the same effect on the mind of the recipient which the precise truth would have produced.” App. Br. at 38 (quoting *Jadwin*, 390 N.W.2d at 441). But this “precise truth” formulation is also recognized in *McKee* and *Masson* as an alternative formulation for falsity. *See* 4 Minn. Practice – Jury Instructions, CIVJIG 50.25 “Use Note” (6th ed. 2014) (quoting *McKee*, 825 N.W.2d at 730 (quoting *Masson*, 501 U.S. at 517)). Yet the model jury instructions, and Larson’s own proposed falsity instruction, included only the “substance or gist” phrasing. *See* App.Add.149; Doc.86 at No. 14. Larson’s argument is effectively waived, and regardless is meritless. Nothing requires that a jury be instructed

on every alternative articulation of a legal standard. The standard is whether the instructions “overall fairly and correctly state the applicable law.” *Hilligoss*, 649 N.W.2d at 147. Larson offers no meaningful argument that the instruction here failed to do so.

Second, Larson argues the Court of Appeals found *Moreno*’s articulation of the fair and accurate reporting standard controlled, but that *Moreno*’s phrasing was not given to the jury. App. Br. at 39-40, 47-48. This argument fails because the *Jadwin* standard, which Larson says controls, was put to the jury. Indeed, *Moreno*’s discussion of substantial accuracy when alleged defamation is based on information from sources both protected and unprotected by the fair-report privilege is inapplicable here. 610 N.W.2d at 333. Unlike *Moreno*, where the complaint alleged the entire “article was defamatory,” without “distinguish[ing] any particular part,” *id.* at 334, here, Larson alleged specific statements—which were based on the news conference, news release, and/or jail log—were defamatory, Doc.94 ¶¶13-34. Regardless, *Moreno* focused on substantial accuracy and the need to consider the entire statements; the substantially same instruction was given here. Any minor variation here is distinct from the cases cited by Larson. *Christie* and *Becker*, for example, dealt with fundamental differences in the jury instructions on “the applicable standard of proof.” See App. Br. at 48; *Christie v. Estate of Christie*, 911 N.W.2d 833, 838 (Minn. 2018); *Becker v. Allow Hardfacing & Eng’g Co.*, 401 N.W.2d 655, 659-60 (Minn. 1987); see also *In re Estate of Butler*, 803 N.W.2d 393, 400 (Minn. 2011) (JAML is proper when the evidence compels it under the correct legal standard).

Finally, Larson’s arguments that substantial accuracy was a question for the court, that the issue was never tried to the jury, and that Larson had no opportunity to argue the

privilege, are baseless. App. Br. at 40-41. While substantial accuracy under the fair-report privilege could have been found by the court as a matter of law given the clear facts in Defendants' favor, it is generally for the jury. *See* Restatement §619. And here, Larson's counsel specifically argued in closing that Defendants' statements were not what police said, and that question was put to jury. Larson cannot show how the instruction was prejudicial error. The jury's finding compels judgment for Defendants.

IV. The District Court's JAML Order On The Falsity Element Was Properly Reversed

Separate from Larson's arguments regarding the fair-report privilege, he also challenges the Court of Appeals' decision to reverse the district court's JAML order for Larson on the falsity element. But reinstatement of the jury verdict was correct. The jury was properly instructed on falsity, Larson's falsity-by-implication and republication arguments do not apply given how he tried his case, and based on this Court's decision in *Diesen v. Hessburg*, 45 N.W.2d 446 (Minn. 1990), an "implication" theory is not cognizable in a case involving a matter of public concern.

A. The Jury Was Properly Instructed on Falsity, and the Jury's Finding Is Supported by the Record

The jury's finding on falsity—separate from the fair-report privilege—is an alternative ground for affirming the Court of Appeals.¹⁴ Larson does not dispute the falsity instruction mirrored the model jury instruction. *Compare* Doc.127 at 14, *with*

¹⁴ *See Stand Up Multipositional Advantage MRI, P.A. v. Am. Family Ins. Co.*, 889 N.W.2d 543, 546 n.4 (Minn. 2017) (court may consider "alternative ground on which to affirm a judgment in respondent's favor").

App.Add.149. And if the fair-report privilege does not apply, falsity was proper for the jury to reach, since the “entire report then would be subject to evaluation as any other allegedly defamatory statement.” *Moreno*, 610 N.W.2d at 333. The jury found these statements were not false, and this “court will not overturn a jury finding on the issue of falsity unless the finding is manifestly and palpably contrary to the evidence.” *Lewis*, 389 N.W.2d at 889. Here, the jury’s finding is supported by ample evidence, particularly where the eight statements were submitted in their entirety to the jury, and the district court acknowledged that the falsity element was one where “[a] jury could find either way.” Tr.1111. The Court of Appeals can also be affirmed on this ground.

B. The District Court’s and Larson’s Arguments for a Falsity-by-Implication and Republication Theory Fail

The crux of Larson’s falsity argument is that “the content of the defamatory statement must be the implication of the statement—that is, did Larson ambush, shoot and kill, Officer Decker—not whether law enforcement actually made the statement.” App. Br. at 49. Larson contends that an optional falsity-by-implication instruction permitted by the model jury instructions was compelled here. *Id.* at 49-51. But falsity-by-implication as established by this Court in *Diesen* and envisioned in the model instructions does not apply here. Instead, it arises “if the defendant juxtaposes a series of facts so as to imply a defamatory connection between them, or creates a defamatory implication by omitting facts.” *Diesen*, 455 N.W.2d at 450 (quotation omitted); App.Add.149. But Larson alleged each of the eight statements, on its own, is false—he did not claim Defendants juxtaposed anything. Nor did the statements *omit* any facts to

imply Larson killed Officer Decker. Instead, Larson’s theory was that Defendants *added* words not said by law enforcement to *explicitly* (not implicitly) say Larson killed Officer Decker. Moreover, as the Court of Appeals found, the caveats such as “police say” prevent a conclusion that “these statements implied Larson actually killed Decker.” App.Add.26. A “falsity-by-implication” instruction, as intended by the optional instruction in CIVJIG 50.25 and *Diesen*, is inapplicable.

Even if Larson had properly alleged a falsity- or defamation-by-implication theory (which he did not), its application here would be constitutionally foreclosed. App.Add.26 (recognizing but not reaching “weightier constitutional issue”). *Diesen* recognized that “[g]reater constitutional protection is afforded speech about public officials’ conduct *and other matters of public concern* than that of a strictly private nature.” 455 N.W.2d at 450 (emphasis added). *Diesen*’s holding “declin[ing] to allow a public official to prove falsity by implication where the challenged statements are true,” *id.* at 451-52, should likewise extend to issues of public concern and a private figure.¹⁵ The public interest is the same whether it involves a public or private figure, and the private person’s interests are less pronounced when the challenged statements themselves are true, and the only alleged falsity is the statement’s *implication*.

Larson, and the district court, simply confused “defamation by implication” with “republication.” See App. Br. at 51-52. But Larson never sought a jury instruction on

¹⁵ Other jurisdictions have so held. *E.g.*, *Collins v. WAFB, LLC*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 58844, at *22 (E.D. La. Apr. 18, 2017) (Louisiana law); *Royal Palace Homes, Inc. v. Channel 7 of Detroit, Inc.*, 495 N.W.2d 392, 394 (Mich. App. 1992).

republication, nor did he argue plain error when seeking to proceed on that theory on appeal. App.Add.23-24 n.7. And critically, Larson himself disavowed any such theory on the stand—making clear the claimed falsity and harm was that what the press reported was not what the police said. *Supra* at 18. The Court of Appeals correctly refused to consider this issue. App.Add.23-24 n.7.

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